NO. 477289-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION 2 AT TACOMA

RESTORE EQUITY, LLC, a limited liability company
Appellant (Plaintiff below),
vs.
The BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as trustee,
Appellee (Defendant below).

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 NOV 24 AM 11:37
STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPUTY

APPELLANT RESTORE EQUITY, LLC'S OPENNING BRIEF

Appeal from a decision granting summary judgment and dismissing the case made by the Honorable Judge Edwards of the Grays Harbor Superior Court in the matter of *Restore Equity, LLC v. the Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee*, case number No. 11-2-01446-7.

Edward P. Weigelt, Jr. WSBA 12003
Attorney For Appellant

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

This action arises from a non-judicial foreclosure of a deed of trust under the Washington Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24 et seq. The issues raised by this appeal relate to the legal effect of a trustee's sale of property when the trustee fails to give notice of the trustee's sale to the property's owner whose ownership interest was a matter of public record and duly recorded in the county's real property records. After concluding that the sale did not extinguish the Appellant Restore Equity, LLC's ownership of the property the lower court erred by authorizing the Appellee Bank of New York Mellon¹ to "redo" the foreclosure.

It also dismissed Restore's alternative claim for excess proceeds under RCW 61.24.070) and 61.24.080 and violation of the Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86 et seq.). The alternative claims related to the Appellee Bank of New York Mellon's bid at the trustee's sale which was predicated on the assessment of interest at a rate in excess of that allowed under the adjustable rate Promissory Note. These claims were rendered moot by the lower court's determination that the sale did not extinguish its ownership of the property, but may become issues in later proceeding.

The Appellant, Restore Equity, LLC assigns error to the lower court granting the Appellee Bank of New York Mellon's Motion For Summary Judgment to the extent it also authorizes the re-foreclosure of the Note and Deed of Trust.

¹ The Bank of New York Mellon is a party in this action in its trustee capacity, as Successor Trustee to JP Morgan Chase Bank, as trustee for Novastar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 20014-1, Novastar Home Equity Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2004-1.

The Appellant Restore Equity, LLC also assigns error to the lower court's findings that the Appellee Bank of New York Mellon's erroneous assessment of interest (which had been computed using a rate in excess of that allowed by the adjustable rate Promissory Note) was not a violation of Washington Consumer Protection Act.

Appellant's Consumer Protection Act claim and underlying claim to excess proceeds were alternative claims arising from the trustee's sale winning bid, arise if Restore's ownership had been extinguished by the sale. At issue in this appeal is lower court's superfluous findings to the effect that overcharging of interest does not affect the public interest. Restore takes exception to these findings since the crucial question is why this occurred and whether this was a simple error (not a CPA violation) or institutionalized error or practice remained a question of fact.

II. INTRODUCTION

The Appellee Bank of New York Mellon is the successor beneficiary of a deed of trust against property owned by Restore Equity, LLC. (*DOT at CP (28-43, Assignment at CP 45, Restore's Deed at CP 47-48.)*)

In June, 2011 the Bank of New York Mellon instructed the trustee to commence a non-judicial foreclosure of the deed of trust. (*Notice of Sale, CP 99-101*) On September 30, 2011 the trustee foreclosed and sold the property without prior notice of the trustee's sale to Restore. The Bank of New York Mellon was the successful buyer of the property at the trustee's sale. (*Trustee's deed, CP 108-109*)

The Bank of New York Mellon made a credit bid to buy the property. Its' bid actually exceeded the Adjustable Mortgage Rate Note ("ARM Note") payoff due to repetitive over charging of interest by the prior holder of the Note (Novastar Mortgage Trust). The Bank of New York Mellon's declaration of the amount owed was not supported by loan records or consideration of the fluctuations in the LIBOR index which controls the interest rates being assessed under the ARM Note. Seemingly both the Appellee Bank of New York Mellon and the trustee blindly accepted a prior loan servicer's, OCWEN, naked statement of the balance due and the computation of interest without review of any supporting records. (*OCWEN statement of balance, CP 88-89, Promissory Note CP 83-86, capped paragraph 4 CP 83, LIBOR index rates CP 157-163*)

After the sale the Bank of Mellon sought possession of the property and Restore brought this lawsuit to quiet title, or in the alternative, to recover the excess sale proceeds under RCW 61.24.070, RCW 61.24.080. (*Complaint CP 1-11*) Restore's claim for excess proceeds and related Consumer Protection Act Claim centered on the bank's credit bid which was based on the overcharging of interest due.

The trial court granted Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss this action. (*Order Granting, CP 196-198*) Pursuant to RCW 61.24.040(7) the trial court correctly held that the trustee's sale was not effective to terminate Restore's ownership of the property due to failure of notice. However, the lower court then went on to conclude that the sale could be "redone" since the lack of notice was due to a "mistake" by the trustee. The court's decision that the sale did not terminate Restore's ownership rendered its alternative claim for excess sale proceeds moot.

What constitutes an “excusable mistake” for purposes of allowing a “re-do” of a trustee’s sale is the primary issue in this case. The trustee’s ignorance of Restore’s ownership was founded on his failure to investigate the property’s title. The trustee did not obtain a current title report nor updates to a report issued over a year before. The trustee’s explanation of “why” he failed to give notice of the trustee’s sale to Restore is simply that it was “ignorant” of it. Of import is that the trustee’s declaration also indicates that it learned of Restore’s ownership of the property sometime “after” the issuance of the Notice of Trustee’s Sale. CP The trustee did not claim that it was “ignorant” of Restore’s ownership of the property at the time of the trustee’s sale. (*CP 93, paragraph 9*)

To be fair trusted claims that it learned of Restore’s interest after the notice of sale when it obtained a date down endorsement. (*CP 93, paragraphs 8-10*). The date this was obtained was not stated. It could be before or after the date of the trustee’s sale. If before the sale, then the trustee had was fully aware that it had failed to give notice of the sale to Restore who was, and had been, the owner of the property long prior to the date the Notice of Sale was give. If the date down endorsement was received after the sale, then the question is why had the trustee proceeded prior to obtaining this type of update? There is no explanation.

The trustee’s error (failure to investigate title) could ALSO have been easily remedied if the Bank of New York Mellon, itself, as the bidder and buyer of the property, had exercised common sense and due diligence by itself ordering a title report and comparing it to the trustee’s Notice of Sale to verify that notice was given to those having a record interest in the property, such as Restore. This simple act was

not done by anyone and it has now led to four separate lawsuits relating to the title and ownership of this property.

The Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24 does not expressly authorize a “re-do” of a trustee’s sale or elucidate the circumstances, if any, when the sale can be re-done. However, it does explain the remedy. The remedy for a failure to give notice is to render the trustee’s sale as “ineffective” to affect the rights of any person who was not given notice. RCW 61.24.040(7). A potential ambiguity in the statute arises since it goes on to specify that “such omitted person shall be treated as if such person was the holder of the same lien or interest and was omitted as a party defendant in a judicial foreclosure proceeding.” There are no Washington cases interpreting this aspect of the statute.

A single Washington decision has authorized the “re-do” of a judicial foreclosure on the basis of a mistake arising from a court clerk’s indexing error which resulted in the failure to name a junior judgment lienholder as a defendant. *U.S. Bank of Washington v. Hursey*, 116 Wn. 2nd 522, 806 P.2d 245 (1991). Because of the indexing error the junior lienholder creditor’s judgment lien was not a matter of public record.

Whether the interest in the property is a matter of public record is the critical fact in *Hursey* and a later decisions. Under Washington law a buyer at a lien foreclosure, and presumably the agent conducting it, is held to have constructive knowledge of all matters of public record. *Sixty-01 Ass’n of Apartment Owners v. Parsons*, 178 Wn.App. 228, 232-233, 314 P.3d 1121 (Div. 1 2013) (aff’d 181 Wn. 2nd 316, 335 P.3d 933).

Since *Hursey, Id.* one court, in dicta, has considered whether a judicial foreclosure may be “re-done” when a junior lienholder was not named a defendant in the action despite his lien being a matter of public record. *Citizens State Bank of New Castle v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 949 N.E.2d 1195 (Ind. 2011). The Indiana Supreme Court did not deem the failure to give notice to a junior lienholder whose interest was of public record as being adequate equitable grounds to authorize the sale to be redone.

The Washington Supreme Court has weighed in on a similar issue of whether lack of knowledge of a deed of trust excuses a buyer of the property at a sheriff’s sale from his purchase obligation. The Supreme Court rejected this argument since the deed of trust was a matter of public record and concluded that a court in equity should not excuse a buyer, such as the Bank of New York Mellon, from its obligations or the consequences of the sale when he fails to exercise due diligence in investigating the record title of the property. *Sixty-01 Association of Apartment Owners v. Parsons*, 181 Wn. 2nd 316, 335 P.3d 933 (2014).

Whether a trustee’s sale can be “re-done” when there is a failure to give notice to a junior lienholder whose interest was a matter of public record, when there is also failure by both the buyer at the sale and a trustee who each failed to exercise due diligence to investigate time is an important question of first impression. The answer to this question has ramifications which go well beyond the interests of the parties to this appeal. A “re-do” of a trustee’s sale presupposes that there is no merger of either the debt and/or deed of trust into the trustee’s deed and, correspondingly, that the deed

of trust continues as a mortgage lien against the property after the sale which can be foreclosed “a second time.”

The effect of the continuation of the deed of trust as a mortgage lien against the property after foreclosure creates uncertainty in the chain of title, may render title unmarketable, lend itself to potential manipulation, and contravenes the purpose of the Deed of Trust Act to promote an efficient cost effective means to foreclose a deed of trust. *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383,387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985). A “re-do” opens a Pandora’s box of complications relating to the effect of the sale on the rights of junior lienholders whose interests were extinguished. What happens to related or subsequent litigation which may have been commenced as a result of the sale, or bankruptcies, or post trustee sale judgments against the new property owner for liability on a junior position lien extinguished by the sale, or the liability of a guarantor, or successive foreclosures of additional collateral securing the original Note?

It is anticipated that the Appellee, Bank of New York Mellon, will argue that a “re-do” of the trustee’s foreclosure sale is appropriate to avoid a potential wind-fall to an omitted lienholder whose public record interest is not extinguished by sale. This concern has some merit but must be balanced by full consideration of why the omission occurred. In the context of the present case, this litigation could have been avoided if the trustee had obtained a title report or if the Bank of New York Mellon itself had been a prudent bidder at the sale, obtained one, and then cross checked it against the Notice of Trustee’s Sale and/or conferred with the trustee to verify to whom notice was given before it purchased the property. Obtaining a title report or investigating public records to determine who has a record interest is a very small

inconvenience compared to the complications, litigation, attorney fees, and uncertainties of “re-doing” foreclosures. “Re-dos” undermine the very purposes of the Deed of Trust Act. The legislature has considered the possibility of errors and mistakes in the trustee sales process. The legislature placed a time limit of 11 days after the trustee’s sale for either the trustee or beneficiary to declare the sale void and an additional 4 days (15 days after the sale) to rescind it. RCW 61.24.050(2). This remedy must be timely asserted. When it is not timely asserted the sale becomes “final.” RCW 61.24.050(1). Neither the Bank of New York Mellon nor the trustee timely declared the sale void, nor gave notice of rescission. The complications of a “re-do” are real and are exemplified by three other lawsuits now filed by the Bank of New York Mellon against Restore and others relating to this property. This could have been avoided had either the trustee or Bank of Mellon exercised due diligence by taking the few moments it takes to investigate title. *Sixty-01 Association of Apartment Owners v. Parsons*, 181 Wn. 2nd 316, 335 P.3d 933 (2014).

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Whether a deed of trust foreclosure is effective to affect the rights of the owner of the property when the owner is not given notice of the sale.

B. Whether a trustee’s failure to give notice of a trustee’s sale is excusable error when (i) the trustee failed to order a title report to ascertain who is entitled to notice of the trustee’s sale and (ii) the buyer of the property also failed to use due diligence to investigate title and evaluate the legal effect of the sale when notice is not given to a party having a record interest in the property.

C. Whether a deed of trust and/or the debt secured by it (up to the amount of the bid) merge or are extinguished by the trustee's sale and recording of the trustee's deed conveying the property to the successful bidder at the trustee's sale.

D. Whether a beneficiary of a deed of trust violates the Consumer Protection Act by systematically overcharging interest or fails to confirm the amount owed at the time of sale this presents a question of fact.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2010 Ronald and Debra Crowder sold the subject property to the Appellant Restore Equity, LLC ("Restore"). The Crowders' deed conveying the property to Restore was duly recorded in Grays Harbor recorder's office under recording number 2010-111160032. (*CP 47-48*). The property was sold subject to a deed of trust securing the Crowders' obligations to Novastar Mortgage Trust (*Note CP 83-86, Deed of Trust CP 28-43*) Novastar assigned the Note and Deed of Trust to the Bank of New York Mellon in May, 2011. (*Assignment CP 45, Note CP 83-86, Deed of Trust CP 28-43*)

On September 30, 2011 the trustee of the deed of trust, Quality Loan Services Corporation, (the "trustee") foreclosed the deed of trust by conducting a trustee's sale of the property. (*Dec. Herbert West, CP 91-110, Notice of Trustee's Sale, CP 99-101*) No notice of the sale was given to Restore. The Appellee Bank of New York Mellon ("Bank of New York Mellon") was the successful bidder at the trustee's sale and purchased the property for \$150,968. (*trustee's deed, CP 108-109*) This sum exceeded

the amount actually owed under the note. (*Dec. Weigelt, CP 134-136, supporting exhibits LIBOR rates, CP 157-163*)

After the trustee's sale, the Bank of New York Mellon then commenced an unlawful detainer action and Restore commenced the present action to quiet title. (*Complaint, CP 1-11*) Restore's complaint also raised two secondary causes of action for violation of the Consumer Protection Act centered on the overcharging of interest and a claim against the excess trustee sale proceeds. The Bank of New York Mellon's unlawful detainer was dismissed and the litigation continued in the context of the present case.

On May 26, 2015, while some discovery was still outstanding, the Honorable Judge Edwards of the Grays Harbor Superior Court granted the Bank of New York Mellon's Motion For Summary Judgment to dismiss the case. (*Mo. S.J., CP 56-76 Order Granting Motion CP 194-197*). In doing so Judge Edwards held that the trustee's sale did not affect Restore's ownership of the property nor extinguish the Bank of New York Mellon's deed of trust. (*Order Granting Motion at CP 196, conclusion 2, 3 and 7*) He then authorized the Bank of New York Mellon to re-foreclose the deed of trust, i.e., to "re-do" the foreclosure sale. (*Order Granting Motion at CP 196, conclusion 4 and 7*) He also dismissed Restore's alternative claims to excess proceeds (relevant if the sale had been effective to terminate its ownership) and violation of the Consumer Protection Act. These claims were rendered moot by his decision that the sale did not affect Restore's ownership, but are potentially still relevant in later litigation filed by Bank of New York Mellon.

On June 22, 2015 Restore timely filed this appeal pursuant to RAP 5.2 (*CP 198-203, Notice of Appeal*). Since this appeal was filed, Bank of New York Mellon has commenced two new lawsuits: First, a judicial foreclosure of the Note and Deed of Trust (Bank of New York Mellon v. Crowder, Grays Harbor Superior Court case number 15-2-00542-8) and second, more recently an unlawful detainer action seeking possession of the property on the basis of its being “the owner of the property” under the trustee’s deed, (Bank of New York Mellon v. Crowder, Grays Harbor Superior Court case number 15-2-00784-6).

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

1. 2003 Crowder Loan. In December 2003 Ronald and Debra Crowder borrowed \$126,000 from Novastar Mortgage Funding Trust (“Novastar”). The loan is evidenced by an adjustable rate Promissory Note (*Dec. Ortworth*, CP 77-90, Note at CP 83-96). The obligations under the Note were secured by the subject Deed of Trust against the subject property. (*Deed of Trust at CP 24-25*)

The Note’s interest rate was tied to the LIBOR Rate Index which varied significantly during the term of the Note. (*Note at CP 83-86, paragraph 4(B) re index at CP 83, and rate cap at paragraph 4 (D) at CP 83*) Novastar, however, failed to reduce the adjustable rate when the index rate declined which resulted in very significant interest overcharges. (*generally CP 134-163, Dec. Weigelt, at 135, and LIBOR index rates CP 157-163*), Unable to pay the disputed interest charged by Novastar, the Crowders defaulted on the Note. (*CP 135*)

In early April, 2010 Novastar (the Bank of Mellon’s predecessor) retained Quality Loan Service Corporation (“trustee”) to commence a non-judicial foreclosure

of the Deed of the Trust. (*Dec. Herbert West, at CP 92, Appointment of Successor Trustee, at CP 96*).

On April 5, 2010 the trustee ordered a title report entitled Trustee Sale Guarantee. (*Dec. Weigelt, at CP 135, title report/Trustee's Guarantee at CP 138-146*). This was the only title report ever ordered by the trustee.

2 October 2010 Sale of Property To Restore. In October 2010 Restore purchased the subject property from the Crowders. The deed reflecting Restore's purchase and ownership interest of the property was recorded on November 16, 2010 in the real property records of Grays Harbor County. (Deed at CP 47-48) The deed clearly and correctly stated Restore's address. (Deed at 47) This is also a matter of public record with the Secretary of State's office.

4. May to June 2011. Novastar assigned the Note and Deed of Trust to the Bank of New York Mellon in May, 2011. (*Assignment CP 45, Note CP 83-86, Deed of Trust CP 28-43*). Like Novastar before it, the Bank of New York Mellon retained the trustee (Quality Loan Services Corporation) as its agent to give a Notice of Default declaring the Crowder Note and Deed of Trust in default. This was not given to Restore. (*Order Granting Motion, findings 5 at 195, and conclusion 2 at CP 196*)

There is no evidence that either the Bank or the trustee reviewed the Novastar loan file to determine if the interest calculations, and hence the interest charged, were correct. The Bank of New York Mellon did not produce a loan history, notices of interest rate changes, or rate adjustments. (*CP 135*). The interest rate was variable and was to be increased and decreased based on the LIBOR index. (*Note terms paragraph 4 at CP 83*) Over the course of the loan the interest rate was increased when the LIBOR

index went up, but apparently did not decrease when it declined. The only supporting record of the debt was a bald statement made by another loan server, OCWEN. (CP 88-89). The rate exceeded the loan cap.

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