NO. 47728-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

RESTORE EQUITY, LLC,  
APPELLANT

vs.

The BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as successor in interest,  
RESPONDENT

---

**ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE BANK OF NEW  
YORK MELLON, AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO JPMORGAN  
CHASE BANK, AS TRUSTEE FOR NOVASTAR MORTGAGE  
FUNDING TRUST, SERIES 2004-1, NOVASTAR HOME EQUITY  
LOAN ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2004-1**

---

Robert W. Norman, Jr., WSBA No. 37094  
Sakae S. Sakai, WSBA No. 44082  
HOUSER & ALLISON, APC  
1601 5<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 850  
Seattle, WA 98101  
Telephone: (206) 596-7838  
Facsimile: (206) 596-7839

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

This is buttressed by the fact that Restore Equity takes issue with Quality Loan Services' explanation, stating that Quality Loan Services could have obtained a current title report to remedy the mistake. Opening Brief, Pg. 28. Restore Equity itself acknowledges not only the mistake, as well as the explanation, but goes so far as to present a solution. Regardless, the argument and the record establish that *Citizens State Bank*, which has no precedential value, is distinguishable.

As to the merger doctrine, Restore Equity failed to present any evidence that would rebut the presumption that the Trust intended for a merger of the Deed of Trust and its fee interest in the Property, a requirement under Washington law. *Anderson v. Starr*, 159 Wn. 641, 643, 644, 294 P. 581 (1930) (citations omitted). Moreover, under Washington law, the doctrine of merger is highly disfavored. *In re Trustee's Sale of Real Property of Ball*, 179 Wn.App. 559, 565, 319 P.3d 844 (2014). Finally, reforeclosure is not an exception to, or circumstance that voids the merger doctrine. Under Washington law, the reforeclosure moots any questions of whether the merger doctrine applies. *Hursey*, 116 Wn.2d at

528. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should be affirmed as Restore Equity's reliance on *Citizens State Bank* is erroneous.

iv. Restore Equity's reliance on *Sixty-01* is inappropriate, as it is irrelevant to the issues underlying this proceeding.

Restore Equity contends the *Hursey* decision was not followed by the Washington Supreme Court in *Sixty-01*, and that *Sixty-01* supports the proposition that a party's lack of due diligence is not a "mistake" which warrants a reforeclosure. *See* Opening Brief, Pg. 23–25. Restore Equity is wrong. *Sixty-01* does not mention reforeclosure, and importantly, does not overturn or even discuss *Hursey*. A review of *Sixty-01* establishes that Restore Equity's argument, which is raised for the first time on appeal, does not present a basis to overturn the trial court's ruling.

The issue addressed in *Sixty-01* is whether a successful purchaser at a sheriff's sale has a right to withdraw his or her bid prior to confirmation or if a judgment creditor is entitled to confirmation of the sale absent substantial irregularities, even if the purchaser no longer wishes to purchase the property. *Sixty-01 Ass'n of Apartment Owners v. Parsons*, 181 Wn.2d 316, 318, 335 P.3d 933 (2014). The Washington Supreme Court held that a third-party purchaser does not have a unilateral right to withdraw a successful bid before confirmation. *Id.*

*Sixty-01* is distinguishable as it focuses on whether a third party purchaser can withdraw a bid prior to confirmation of a sheriff's sale. The purchaser sought to withdraw his bid after learning of liens encumbering the Property, stating he would have never bid on the properties if he knew they were encumbered. *Id.* at 320–321.

In contrast, the present proceeding addresses whether the Trust can reforeclose the Deed of Trust due to the trustee's failure to comply with the DTA by issuing a Notice of Trustee's Sale to the property owner. Unlike *Sixty-01*, where a bidder is seeking to unwind a sheriff's sale so he can absolve himself from a bad business decision, the reforeclosure preserves the status quo. There was no omitted party to the foreclosure in *Sixty-01*, a central issue in this present proceeding.

Reforeclosure is a fair remedy which puts the party in the position they would have been had the junior been joined in the original action. *U.S. Bank of Washington v. Hursey*, 116 Wn.2d 522, 528, 806 P.2d 245 (1991). The reforeclosure does no more than provide the omitted party that which was denied to it at the previous foreclosure, a sale at which the omitted party could appear and protect its interest. The reforeclosure does not take away any rights which it possessed before foreclosure. *See id.* (citations omitted).

To the extent Restore Equity contends that *Valentine v. Portland Timber & Loan Holding Co.*, 15 Wn.App. 124, 547 P.2d 912 (1976) (“*Valentine*”) supports its argument that a mistake is not grounds for reforeclosure, a review of *Valentine* establishes otherwise. (Opening Brief, Pg. 23); (CP 124.) Moreover, Washington Supreme Court precedence establishes that a mistake in the foreclosure process that results in an omitted party allows for a reforeclosure. *Hursey*, 116 Wn.2d at 526

In *Valentine*, the Court of Appeals, Division One, cited to the general rule that lack of knowledge or notice of a subordinate interest does not excuse a foreclosing mortgagee from joining that party. The subordinate interest is not subject to the foreclosure decree. *See id.* at 128. However, the Court of Appeals noted that Portland Timber and Land Holding Company (“Portland Timber”) held an unrecorded and subordinate interest in real property, and therefore was subject to the foreclosure decree as the purchaser was a bona fide purchaser. *Id.* at 129.

Contrary to Restore Equity’s argument, *Valentine* is irrelevant to the reforeclosure analysis and what constitutes a valid mistake under *Hursey*. As evidenced by *Valentine*, there is no analysis of the reforeclosure process, nor was it an issue in that proceeding. The Trust does not dispute that the DTA, and Washington case law, establish that an omitted party’s rights are not impacted by the foreclosure. RCW



61.24.040(7). This is the law and moreover, this issue was not contested in the trial court. However, Restore Equity's attempt to mold *Sixty-01*, *Valentine*, and *Spokane* into a rule regarding what constitutes a valid mistake in the reforeclosure analysis is a misrepresentation of the cases and should be disregarded.

Ultimately, this case does not present a situation where allowing reforeclosure would impair the pre-sale rights of the Trust, the foreclosing trustee, or even Restore Equity, the omitted owner of the Property. In *Sixty-01*, the third party purchaser sought to retract his bids so that he could avoid his ownership of encumbered properties. There was no omitted party involved in *Sixty-01*, which is what differentiates the reforeclosure doctrine from *Sixty-01* and the sale confirmation analysis at issue in that case, as well as the other cases cited by Restore Equity. Accordingly, Restore Equity's reliance on *Sixty-01* is misplaced and fails to present a basis to overturn the trial court's ruling.

v. There is no genuine issue as to whether QLS failed to serve Restore Equity with the Notice of Sale due to a mistake.

As set forth in *Hursey*, the central issue regarding whether reforeclosure is appropriate is whether a mistake led to the omitted party. In this case, the Trust set forth evidence establishing that Quality Loan Services failed to provide the Notice of Trustee's Sale to Restore Equity

because it mistakenly relied on an outdated title report. (CP 93.) As the non-moving party, Restore Equity failed to set forth any evidence sufficient to establish a genuine issue for trial regarding whether Quality Loan Services mistakenly failed to provide the Notice of Trustee's Sale to Restore Equity. Accordingly, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of the Trust.

In support of its summary judgment motion, the Trust submitted the Declaration of Sierra Herbert-West ("Herbert-West Declaration"), a Trustee's Sale Officer employed by Quality Loan Services Corporation of Washington, the foreclosing trustee. (CP 91–109.) The Herbert-West Declaration sets forth testimony explaining why Quality Loan Services failed to issue the Notice of Trustee's Sale to Restore Equity: it relied on an outdated title report and did not learn of Restore Equity's interests until receiving an endorsement to the title policy after the Notice of Trustee's Sale was issued. (CP 93.)

Restore Equity contends this testimony does not establish an "excusable" mistake, given that if the Trust had ordered a title report or done a title investigation, "we would not be here". Opening Brief, Pg. 28. This argument is based on a misunderstanding of the DTA. The foreclosing trustee is the party who issues the notice of trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.040(1)(b). The trustee, not the beneficiary or purchaser at the

trustee's sale, issues the Notice of Trustee's Sale to parties with a recorded interest in the property, or who are otherwise known to the trustee. *See id.* How the actions of the Trust would have impacted Quality Loan Services, is not only pure speculation, this argument was not raised at the trial court.

Moreover, to support its response to the summary judgment motion, Restore Equity submitted a declaration of its counsel, criticizing the failure of Quality Loan Services to comply with the DTA and order current title information. (CP 136.) As evidenced by the record, Restore Equity did not present any evidence which would create a genuine issue for trial regarding whether Quality Loan Services failed to issue a Notice of Trustee's Sale to Restore Equity due to a mistake. To the contrary, the criticism set forth by Restore Equity only reaffirms the mistake.

Now, for the first time on appeal, Restore Equity argues that Quality Loan Services *may* have had actual knowledge of Restore Equity's ownership. Opening Brief, Pg. 24, 28–29. As set forth above, this argument was not raised at the trial court and Restore Equity is precluded from raising the issue for the first time on appeal.

Restore Equity argues that Quality Loan Services' actual knowledge of Restore Equity's ownership can be inferred from the Herbert-West Declaration. Opening Brief, Pg. 24. Specifically, Restore Equity claims that Quality Loan Services failed to establish it was ignorant

of Restore Equity's interest at the time of the sale, making it conceivable that Quality Loan Services informed the Trust of Restore Equity's ownership and sought instructions. *Id.* This kind of speculation does not establish a genuine issue for trial. No affidavit or other evidence was submitted to the trial court which would create a genuine issue for trial regarding Quality Loan Services' intent and mistake. Under CR 56(e), affidavits supporting or opposing summary judgment must (1) be made on personal knowledge, (2) set forth such *facts* as would be admissible in evidence, and (3) show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. *Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (*emphasis in original*).

A fact is an event, an occurrence, or something that exists in reality. *Id.* (citations omitted). It is what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as distinguished from supposition or opinion. *Id.* (citations omitted). An affidavit does not raise a genuine issue of fact unless it sets forth facts evidentiary in nature, i.e., information as to what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as distinguished from supposition or opinion. *Snohomish County v. Rugg*, 115 Wn.App. 218, 224, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002) It is not enough that the affiant be "aware of" or be "familiar with" the matter; personal knowledge is required. *Guntheroth v. Rodaway*, 107 Wn.2d 170, 178, 727 P.2d 982 (1986).

This argument, raised for the first time on appeal, is unsupported by any facts or the record. Restore Equity assumes that Quality Loan Services would knowingly proceed with a foreclosure that would expose it to liability from both the Trust, Restore Equity, and a third-party purchaser for failing to comply with the notice requirements of the DTA. Restore Equity sets forth pure speculation, unsupported by any facts or evidence, regarding Quality Loan Services knowledge and actions. This argument fails to satisfy the baseline requirements of CR 56(e).

Moreover, the argument is contradicted by the evidence. Restore Equity first reached out to Quality Loan Services on October 18, 2011, over a year after the trustee's sale, to notify the trustee of the mistake. (CP 155.) Quality Loan Services then reached out to Restore Equity on November 10, 2011, confirming the mistake and that the sale would be rescinded so that a new foreclosure could be commenced. (CP 154.) The record establishes that Quality Loan Services did not learn of the mistake, and Restore Equity's interest, until after the sale.

Similarly, Restore Equity contends the Trust and Quality Loan Services failed to exercise ordinary care by ordering a title report, or obtaining updates to the title report. Opening Brief, Pg. 30. Restore Equity did not file a negligence claim against either the Trust or Quality Loan Services. Nor did Restore Equity raise this argument to the trial court.

Whether the mistake committed by Quality Loan Services satisfies the reforeclosure requirements, and whether that same mistake breaches a duty owed to Restore Equity, are two wholly separate issues. The irrelevant issues, raised for the first time on appeal, should be rejected.

Ultimately, Restore Equity chose not to sue Quality Loan Services, chose not to depose Quality Loan Services, and ultimately, did not request a CR 56(f) continuance. For the first time on appeal, Restore Equity attempts to cure these issues by setting forth speculative arguments. The trial court should be affirmed as there is no genuine issue as to whether Quality Loan Services committed a mistake by relying on an outdated title report when issuing the Notice of Trustee's Sale.

vi. Any due diligence by the Trust prior to the sale is irrelevant to the reforeclosure analysis.

For the first time on appeal, Restore Equity claims that reforeclosure is not appropriate as the Trust, as purchaser, failed to do its due diligence before purchasing the property at the foreclosure sale. (Opening Brief, Pg. 24.) As set forth above, this argument fails procedurally as it was not raised to the trial court. This argument also fails on the merits as the purchaser's actions are irrelevant to the reforeclosure analysis. The Washington Supreme Court held, without limitations or caveats, that "reforeclosure is proper where a junior lienholder has been

mistakenly omitted from a foreclosure action.” *Hursey*, 116 Wn.2d at 526.). The reforeclosure analysis focuses on why the foreclosing creditor *omitted* a party that was entitled to be joined in the foreclosure action, not on any mistake or due diligence of a purchaser.

Restore Equity argues that if the Trust had cross-checked the Notice of Sale and a current title report, it would have realized that Restore Equity was not provided proper notice. Opening Brief, at 24. This argument fails for a few reasons. First, the Notice of Sale does not set forth to whom the trustee issued the Notice of Sale to. (CP 99–102) Second, the Deed of Trust Act does not require the trustee to put mailing information in a notice of sale. RCW 61.24.040(f).

Third, the bid tendered at a foreclosure sale, as well as any due diligence conducted by the purchaser, are not facts that are relevant to the only question at issue concerning reforeclosure; that is, did the foreclosure trustee make a mistake in who it issued Notices of the Trustee’s Sale to.

Finally, to the extent Restore Equity contends that the foreclosure sale became final 11-days after the sale date, thereby precluding reforeclosure, this argument is meritless. Opening Brief, Pg. 31–32. A non-judicial foreclosure can be voided due to any substantial irregularities which divest the foreclosing trustee of its authority. *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Services of Washington, Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 568, 276 P.3d 1277

(2012). There is no 11-day deadline to void a sale, as established by *Hursey*.

RCW 61.24.050(2) provides a mechanism where the trustee's sale can be unilaterally voided, but it does not preclude other methods, as evidenced by *Albice* and other Washington cases which declare a trustee's sale void. *See, e.g., Rucker v. NovaStar Mortg., Inc.*, 117 Wn.App. 1, 311 P.3d 31 (2013). Moreover, RCW 61.24.050(2)(a) was not even enacted at the time of the 2011 foreclosure. Laws of 2012, 62 Leg., Reg. Sess., ch. 185 §145. This argument not only fails on the merits, it was not raised by Restore Equity to the trial court, thereby precluding its consideration.

Ultimately, Restore Equity does not, and cannot, cite to any authority which supports its argument that the purchaser's due diligence has any relevance to the reforeclosure analysis. As set forth in *Hursey*, the operative issue is whether a party entitled to receive notice of the sale was omitted due to a mistake. As this argument fails on the merits, and was not raised below, the trial court should be affirmed.

vii. Restore Equity's reliance on *Rasmussen* is misplaced.

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